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The Mt. Cuba Historic District is an area in Christiana Hundred in New Castle 
County r Delaware consisting of seven properties that lie along County Road 261. 
This half mile road runs between Hillside Mill Road and Route 82, which is called 
Pyles Ford Road at this point (see map).

From Pyles Ford Road, County Road 261 begins on a hill and then drops sharply 
to creek level. Running roughly parallel to Co. Rd. 261 are the tracks of the 
old Wilmington and Western Railroad, now part of the Baltimore and Ohio. The 
Wilmington and Western Railroad is currently being nominated to The National 
Register as a separate and distinct nomination. The landscape surrounding the 
district is hilly, encompassing sections of fallow fields, cultivated fields, 
and woodlands. It is not a densely built up area, although recently new housing 
developments have been started just beyond the district on Hillside Mill Road.

If not for a small bend in the road, the structures erected on the 7 properties 
would all be visible to each other. The earliest of these are Speakman's grist 
mill (N-5001.8),saw mill (N-5001.3),and adjoining stone house (N-5001.2), which 
together formed the original focal point of the district. The mills and the 
house first appear on tax assessments lists of 1816, although the saw mill is 
already described as old at that date. The shed of the saw mill extends to 
within 10 feet of the road. It operated a vertical sash saw, iron tracks for 
which run the length of the shed. Directly behind the saw mill, with the race 
in between, is the stone shell of the grist mill. An earthen ramp leads up to 
a large doorway on the uppei: level of the facade opposite the race. No trace 
of the water wheel remains, but within the grist mill lie two mill stones, 
approximately 4 feet in diameter. The adjoining stone house was always used as 
the mill owner's residence. The house has had one frame addition at two 
different points in time, but which do not detract significantly from the 
original appearance. Across the road is a smaller frame house (N-5001.4) now 
stuccoed over, built c. 1850. These 4 buildings plus the dam and mill races 
comprised the entire district until the opening of the Wilmington and Western 
Railroad in 1872.

With the opening of the railroad the district entered its second stage of 
appearance as its character changed from a tiny, isolated farm and mill complex 
to a small hamlet, connected by the railroad to Wilmington, Philadelphia and 
New York. The focal point likewise shifts from the mills to a picnic area 
(N-5001.9) located several hundred yards behind the mills, out of sight of the 
mills and the road, between the creek and the tracks. This was a popular 
excursion resort in the last quarter of the 19th century, with a dance pavillion, 
swings, croquet lawns, and refreshment stands, which are now gone. This is the 
period when the remaining four properties of the district become important. A 
Gothic-style Victorian cottage (N05001.5), very much in the manner of A.J. Downing 1 s 
Architecture of Country Houses (1850),was built next to the stucco/frame house 
in 1877. This house is rich in architectural trim, with bracketed eaves, a
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE '

The Mt. Cuba Historic District is primarily significant as an example of 19th century 
industrial and community development in northern New Castle County, Delaware. The 
industrial development of the area is clearly reflected in the aggregate of seven 
properties included in the nomination. The Speakman Grist and Saw Mill property can 
be traced back through deeds to 1784 and is physical marker of the earliest type of 
rural industry introduced into northern Delaware. The mills and the adjacent stone 
house (which has always served as the residence of the mill owners) first appear in 
the 1816 Christiana Hundred tax assessments corresponding to the period when the first 
steps towards the intensive industrialization of the area were being made. While many 
of the neighboring mill operations grew into booming family-run operations, the 
Mt. Cuba mills always functioned on an intimate scale within the community and provided 
the basic services of a custom mill rather than catering to a broader and more anonymous 
market.

Between 1834 and 1873 the milling complex was owned by the Speakman family and it was 
probably during their tenure that the stuccoed dwelling across the road and opposite 
the mills was erected. In 1850 Speakman's two sons were both of age to establish their 
own households and, therefore, the stuccoed house was likely the residence of one of 
the sons. For the next two decades the Speakman brothers ran the mills with one working 
as a sawyer and the other as the miller. In the 1870's the mill went into a financial 
decline, but with the coming of the railroad in the early 1870's the community blossomed 
and grew in prosperity. In the period from 1875 to 1885 Mt. Cuba's population rose 
dramatically and the community, as evidenced in the census for 1870, included tradesmen 
and skilled artisans of all kinds. There had always been a resident agrarian community 
including the Frederick, Leach and Concorran farms, which appear on Beers' Atlas of 
1868 and remain in the same families for the next thirty years. In 1880, however, 
Mt. Cuba boasted, in addition to the established milling and farming operations, its 
own butcher, blacksmith, wheelwright, tinsmith, retail grocer, postmaster, and a machinist 
and his apprentice who labored in the mills. The blacksmith and wheelwright most likely 
shared the same shop building and resided in the double house adjacent to it. Both 
these structures were erected in the third quarter of the 19th century and stand today 
on the southern edge of the Historic District. The grocer and postmaster, who were the 
same individual, had his residence and business in the frame "Gothic cottage" just 
across the road and south of the mills. Architecturally this is the most stylishly 
conscious 19th-century structure in the district and surrounding area and clearly 
illustrates the popular acceptance of the eclectic Victorian architectural ideals 
advanced and widely disseminated by individuals such as Alexander Jackson Downing and 
Calvert Vaux. The property on which the house stands was purchased from the mill owners 
in 1877 and the dwelling built without delay for the post office opened in the same year.
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center gable with tracery in the point, diagonal bargeboards ending in tracery on 
the upper levels of the sides, and large double windows each having 16 panes, 
although a picture window has replaced the double windows on one side. Around 
the bend in the road from this house is a blacksmith shop (N-5001.6) built into 
a bank, and a large frame double house. The double house (N-5001.7) has had 
many rambling additions which back up into a bank, but these do not detract from 
the character of the house. The shop and the house are c. 1875. The long facade 
of the shop has a wide opening facing onto the road. Originally it would have 
been in sight of the station house and the covered bridge which carried Hillside 
Mill road over the creek. Today the station house has completely disappeared, the 
covered bridge has been replaced by one of stone, and the shop is a 3"car garage. 
On the hill at the other end of the road, looking down upon the mills, is a farm 
and slaughterhouse complex, also built c. 1875. This complex consists of a small 
ruined stone house (N-5001.10), the slaughterhouse (N-5001.1) 5 and two shed-type 
outbuildings. Only the stone foundations and walls remain of the house.
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Mt. Cuba Historic District Structural Inventory

N-5000.1 
(Also N-4043)

2. N-5001.10

3. N-5001.2 
(Also N-302)

4. N-5001.3 
(Also N-299)

5. N-5001.8

This property contains a slaughterhouse of frame construction on 
stone foundation in good condition; a small, unidentified outbuilding 
of frame construction on stone foundation in excellent condition; 
a slightly larger unidentified outbuilding of frame construction 
on wooden supports in excellent condition.

Foundation and walls of a ruined stone dwelling

This property contains a stone dwelling of uncoursed rubble 
masonry, two and a half stories, two end chimneys, three bay 
center entrance facade, two bays on ends, lean-to addition 
of one and a half stories of stone at rear with white frame 
one story addition to that, the whole in excellent condition. 
Large red frame barn on property also in excellent condition.

Speakman's Saw Mill contains a saw mill, also the races and dam 
for the water power of. the mills. The saw mill has stone 
foundations of uncoursed rubble masonry to the rear, the front 
is an open shed of frame construction supported by wooden posts 
with a wooden planking floor. A small enclosed shed is attached 
to the right. In the enclosed section to the floor boards are 
circular sawn, in the open section the boards are straight sawn. 
The mill operated a vertical sash saw, iron tracks for which run 
the length of the shed.

Directly behind the saw mill, utilizing the same water power, is 
a grist mill, now in deteriorated condition. The walls are of 
uncoursed rubble masonry stuccoed over. It is a two-story structure 
with an earthen ramp leading up to a large doorway on the upper 
level in the rear facade. One side is a three bay center entrance 
facade, with doors on both levels. The opposite side is only the 
upper level of two bays. The fourth facade faces the saw mill with 
the race in between. No trace of the water wheel remains. Two 
mill stones lie within the grist mill, approximately four feet in 
diameter.
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Mt. Cuba Historic District Structural Inventory

N-5001.4 
(Also N-300)

7. N-5001.5 
(Also N-301)

8. N-5001.6 
(Also N-303)

9. N-5001.7

10. N-5001.9

11. N-4091

This property contains a two-story frame house stuccoed over, 
two end chimneys, three bay center entrance facade, four bays 
on the rear facade, two bays on the side, pedimented portico 
over the front entrance, one story lean-to addition to the left 
side with a frame addition behind the stuccoed addition. The 
whole in excellent condition. There is a small frame chicken 
coop in the back in good condition and a frame springhouse to 
the left in excellent condition.

This property contains a one and a half story house of frame 
construction, three bay center entrance facade, single bays on the 
side. The left side and the front have double windows with 16 
panes, on the right side a picture window has replaced the double 
window. Stone foundation and center chimney. The house is rich 
in architectural trim, with bracketed eaves, a center gable with 
tracery in the point, diagonal bargeboards ending in tracery on 
the upper level on the sides. Its plan and treatment are in the 
style of Andrew Jackson Downing (see especially plate X of The 
Architecture of Country Houses, 1850). The house has a front 
porch with shed roof, an open veranda added to the left rear 
corner and an enclosed addition to the right rear corner. It 
is in excellent condition.

This property contains a large rectangular building, five bays by 
two bays, two stories. It was formerly used as a blacksmith shop. 
The structure is set into a bank. The long facade open to the 
road has a wide opening, now the doors for a three car garage. 
The lower story is stuccoed stone painted grey. The upper story 
is white frame with green trim. A porch and steps are added to 
the long rear addition. It is in excellent condition.

This property contains a double house, two and half stories, frame 
construction with stone foundation, four bays by two. Many 
rambling additions, some of which back up into a bank at the 
back of the property, the whole in excellent condition. The 
porch on the left half is open and has balusters on the porch 
rail. The right side porch is enclosed by glass and has 
panelling for the porch rail. A small shed is to the left of 
the house, in good condition.

Mt. Cuba picnic grounds 

Wilmington and.Western Railroad
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As a direct result of the opening of the Wilmington and Western Railroad, the community 
became the "Famous and Romantic" Mt. Cuba and a popular site for summer excursions. 
Now vanished structures included a covered bridge and railroad station (located at the 
intersection Hillside Road and Wilmington and Western Railroad tracks just outside the 
district bounds), a meeting house/chapel formerly situated by the Speakman's stone 
house adjacent to the mills and several recreational facilities placed between the 
mills and the creek and including a dance pavilion, swings, croquet lawns and refreshment 
stands.
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Verbal Boundary;

The Mt. Cuba Historic District is situated in Christiana Hundred of New Castle 
County , Delaware, and is bounded as follows?

Beginning at a point on the south edge, of Route 261-A, situated 80 meters from 
the intersection of Route 262-A and Route 261, and thence south with a line 
80 meters east of and parallel to the meanders of Route 261 until it intersects 
a line 20 meters south of a frame double house and thence with this line to the 
southwest until it intersects the boundary separating Mill Creek and Christiana 
Hundreds and thence with this line to the north until it intersects a line 60 
meters north of and parallel to an imaginary westward extension of Route 262 and 
thence with this line to the northeast until it intersects the east edge of 
Route 261 and with this line to the north until it intersects the south edge 
of Route 262-A and thence with this line to the east to the point of its 
beginning.

Justification: The western bound is a natural border formed by the meanders of 
Red Clay Creek. The eastern bound is principally a visual limit determined by 
the upper edge of the hillslope behind buildings .4, .5, .6 and .7. The southern 
bound is drawn to exclude two modern residences at the junction of Routes 261 and 
269. The northern bound is also principally determined by visual consideration, 
with a projection northward to include properties .1 and .10.
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